IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALVIN DEREAK CHAMBERS,

Appellant,

v. Case No. **SC00-1153**

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

GLENNA JOYCE REEVES

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER **0231061** LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Pursuant to the Florida Supreme Court's Administrative Order of July 13, 1997, this brief has been printed in Courier New (12 point), not proportionally spaced.

Petitioner, Alvin Dereak Chambers, was the defendant below and will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of four volumes, not consecutively numbered. The volumes will be referred to by volume number in roman numerals followed by the page number in parenthesis.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Following a jury trial, petitioner was found guilty of attempted sexual battery not likely to cause serious personal injury, Count I, and simple battery, Count II. (IV-282-283; I-62). On Count I, petitioner was sentenced, over objection, as both a habitual violent felony offender and a prison releasee reoffender. (II-110-113). A sentence of ten years with a minimum term of five years was imposed. (I-70-76,77,78; II-115-116).

On appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, petitioner asserted (1) that the prison releasee reoffender act was unconstitutional and (2) that sentencing him as both a habitual violent felony offender and a prison releasee reoffender was improper. The District Court rejected both claims. Chambers v. State, ___ So.2d ___ (Fla. 1st DCA May 15, 2000). In upholding the constitutionality of the prison releasee reoffender act (PRR), the district court certified the same question as in Woods v. State, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. granted, 740 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1999). Although rejecting petitioner's claims that sentencing him as both a prison releasee reoffender and a habitual violent felony offender violated double jeopardy, the district court acknowledged conflict with Adams v. State, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), and Lewis v. State, 751 So.2d 106 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Issue I, petitioner asserts that sentencing him as both a prison releasee reoffender and a habitual violent felony offender was improper as violative of double jeopardy. In Issue II, petitioner contends the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING PETITIONER AS BOTH A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER AND A HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER.

On Count I, the trial court sentenced Petitioner as both a prison releasee reoffender and as an habitual violent felony offender. Petitioner contends imposition of two sentences for a single offense violates double jeopardy, Article I, §9, Florida Constitution, and Amendment V, United States Constitution. On appeal, the district court rejected this double jeopardy claim. The court, however, acknowledged conflict with Adams v. State, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), and Lewis v. State, 751 So.2d 106 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). Petitioner requests that the Court disapprove the district court herein, and approve the Fourth District's approach in Adams v. State.

Petitioner contends that the legislature has not explicitly authorized double sentencing for a prison releasee reoffender and an habitual violent felony offender. Moreover, if the language of the statute is interpreted to mean such, then the result would be multiple punishments for a single offense which runs afoul of the protection embodied in the Double Jeopardy Clause by operating as an imposition of consecutive enhancement sentences. <u>See Jackson v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1995)(holding that imposition of consecutive enhancement sentences arising out of a single criminal

episode are impermissible, even where two or more different sentence enhancement provisions are involved); Brooks v. State, 630 So.2d 257 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1993)(same); Hale v. State, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993)(same).

The effect of imposing these sentencing alternatives simultaneously is unconstitutional and not intended by the Florida legislature. Review of the language in the sexual battery statute for which petitioner was convicted clearly demonstrates this intent. The provision regarding punishment for sexual battery, § 794.011(5), Florida Statutes (1997), provides that:

A person who commits sexual battery ... is guilty of a felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in s.775.082, s. 775.083 or s. 775.084.

The word "or" as used in this provision clearly indicates that the legislature intended that the court choose to sentence the defendant under §775.082 - the PRR statute, or §775.084 - the HVFO statute, but not under both. If the Florida legislature intended that these sentencing alternatives be imposed in tandem for this offense, then they would have clearly stated such by using the words "and", "and/or", or "in addition to".

In <u>Ex Parte Lange</u>, 18 Wall. 163, 85 U.S. 163, 21 L.Ed. 872 (1873), the defendant had been convicted of a misdemeanor for which the punishment was a fine or imprisonment. The trial court imposed both a fine and imprisonment. Lange was imprisoned, but paid the fine in full. The trial court then vacated the first sentence and

imposed solely a prison sentence. The Supreme Court held that by paying the fine, the prisoner had fully suffered one of the alternative punishments allowed by law. Double jeopardy therefore prohibited him from being punished again for the same offense. Thus, the court vacated the latter prison sentence as violative of double jeopardy.

In <u>Adams v. State</u>, <u>supra</u> at 661, the Fourth District noted that by enacting the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act and the habitual felony offender act, the legislature, as in <u>Lange</u>, created alternative sentencing options for the same offense.

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act itself evidences an intent that it was not intended to be imposed simultaneously with the Habitual Violent Felony Offender Act. Subsection (c) of §775.082(8) specifically provides:

Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law.

The most reasonable interpretation of this subsection is that the trial court may impose a sentence greater than that authorized by §775.082 if such greater sentence is authorized by §775.084. In that situation, the sentence provided by §775.084 can be imposed in lieu of a sentence otherwise provided by §775.082. This statute does not indicate that a sentence under both §775.084 and §775.082 is allowable. The Fourth District in Adams so interpreted this statute concluding that "this section overrides the mandatory duty

to sentence a qualifying defendant as a prison releasee reoffender under section 775.082(8)(d) where the court elects to hand down a harsher sentence as a habitual offender."

Any lack of a clear expression of legislative intent that this Court may find regarding the operation of these statutes requires that the statutes be strictly construed in favor of petitioner. Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1997); Perkins v. State, 576 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1991). This rule of lenity in statutory construction means that a court must decline to impose a punishment that has not plainly and unmistakenably been authorized by the legislature. As applied to the instant case, this rule means that specific indication clear and from the Florida absent legislature, the quarantee against double jeopardy prohibits the cumulative imposition of multiple sentencing alternatives for a single offense. See Jackson; Brooks; Hale, supra.

At best, Section 775.082(8)(c), Florida Statutes (1997), is susceptible of two constructions: (1) that one can be sentenced under both the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act and the habitual violent felony offender statute; or (2) that the trial court has the option of selection of one or the other, but not both. Since the statute is (at best) susceptible of differing constructions, the rule of lenity requires that the interpretation most favorable to the accused by utilized. Thus, the statute must be interpreted

as authorizing the trial court to select between the two acts, but not to impose sentence under both.

Based upon the foregoing, petitioner contends that reversible error has been demonstrated by the impermissible imposition of sentence enhancements under both the PRR statutory provisions and HVFO statutory provisions. This constituted multiple punishment and thereby violates the Double Jeopardy Clause. There is no indication that the Florida legislature intended for the sentence enhancement provisions to operation in tandem. As a result of this error, petitioner's sentence should be vacated and the cause remanded for resentencing under either the sentencing guidelines, the PRR statutory provision (but see Issue II, infra), or the HVFO statutory provisions.

¹ Adams v. State, <u>supra</u>, suggests that the sentencing court is required to sentence under the most harsh statute. Petitioner disagrees and maintains that the trial court is authorized to select which statute under which to impose sentence, provided the HVFO sentence is greater than that of the PRR.

ISSUE II

THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Petitioner was sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender. While the district court ruled the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act constitutional, the court certified the same question that was certified in <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. granted</u>, 740 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1999). In <u>Woods</u>, the following question was certified:

DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

740 So.2d at 25.

Petitioner argues that the certified question should be answered "yes," since the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act does violate separation of powers principles. Moreover, petitioner contends the statute is unconstitutional for four additional reasons.²

Petitioner thus asserts that Section 775.082 is unconstitutional on five grounds: (1) the statute violates the single subject provisions of Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution; (2) the statute violates separation of powers under Article II, Section 3, Florida Constitution; (3) the statute

 $^{^2}$ Pursuant to <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1993), this Court has the discretion to rule on these additional grounds.

violates the cruel and/or unusual punishment provisions contained in the Eighth Amendment, United States Constitution and Article I, Section 17, Florida Constitution; (4) the statute is void for vagueness under both the state and federal constitutions; and (5) the statute violates the due process clauses of both the state and federal constitutions. Each point will be discussed seriatim.

Single Subject Requirement

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is contained in Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997). The provisions of the Act require sentences of specified terms of years for offenders who commit specified offenses within three years of being released from a state correctional facility.

Article III, Section 6, Constitution of the State of Florida, provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title.

The legislation challenged in this case was passed as Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida. It became law without the signature of the Governor on May 30, 1997. Chapter 97-239 created the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act and was placed in section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1997). The new law amended or created Sections 944.705, 947.141, 948.06, 948.01, and 958.14, Florida Statutes (1997). These provisions concern matters ranging from

whether a youthful offender shall be committed to the custody of the department, to when a court may place a defendant on probation or in community control if the person is a substance abuser. See Section 948.01 and 958.14, Florida Statutes (1997). Other matters included expanding the category of persons authorized to arrest a probationer or person on community control for violation. See Section 948.06, Florida Statutes (1997).

The only portion of the new legislation that relates to the same subject matter as sentencing prison releasee reoffenders is Section 944.705, Florida Statutes (1997), requiring the Department of Corrections to notify every inmate of the provisions relating to sentencing if the act is violated within three years of release. None of the other subjects in the act are reasonably connected or related and are not part of a single subject.

In <u>Bunnell v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1994), the Court struck an act for containing two subjects. The Court, citing <u>Kirkland v. Phillips</u>, 106 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1959), noted that one purpose of the constitutional requirement was to give fair notice concerning the nature and substance of the legislation. However, even if the title of the act gives fair notice, as did the legislation in <u>Bunnell</u>, another requirement is to allow intelligent lawmaking and to prevent log-rolling of legislation. <u>State ex rel. Landis v. Thompson</u>, 120 Fla. 860, 163 So. 270 (1935), and <u>Williams v. State</u>, 100 Fla. 1054, 132 So. 186 (1930). Legislation that

violates the single subject rule can become a cloak within which dissimilar legislation may be passed without being fairly debated or considered on its own merits. State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978). See also State v. Thompson, 750 So.2d 643 (Fla. 1999), and Heggs v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S137 (Fla. February 17, 2000).

Burch v. State, 558 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1990), does not apply because, although complex, the legislation there was designed to combat crime through fighting money laundering and providing education programs to foster safer neighborhoods. The means by which this subject was accomplished involved amendments to several statutes, which by itself does not violate the single subject rule.

Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, not only creates the act, it also amends Section 948.06, Florida Statutes (1997), to allow "any law enforcement officer who is aware of the probationary or community control status of [a] probationer or offender in community control" to arrest said person and return him or her to the court granting such probation or community control. This provision has no logical connection to the creation of the act, and, therefore, violates the single subject requirement.

An act may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connections.

Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981). See also State v.

Johnson, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993) (chapter law creating the habitual

offender statute violated single subject requirement). Providing any law enforcement officer who is aware that a person is on community control or probation may arrest that person has nothing to do with the purpose of the Act. Chapter 97-239, therefore, violates the single subject requirement and this issues remains ripe until the 1999 biennial adoption of the Florida Statutes. <u>Id.</u>

The statute at bar, although less comprehensive in total scope as the one approved in Burch, is broader in its subject. Ιt violates the single subject rule because the provisions dealing with probation violation, arrest of violators, and forfeiting of gain time for violations of controlled release are matters that are not reasonably related to a specific mandatory punishment provision for person convicted of certain crimes within three years of release from prison. If the single subject rule means only that "crime" is a subject, then the legislation can pass review, but that is not the rationale utilized by this Court in considering whether acts of the legislature comply. The proper manner to review the statute is to consider the purpose of the various provisions, the means provided to accomplish those goals, and the conclusion is apparent that several subjects are contained in the legislation.

Separation of Powers

Petitioner argues that Article II, Section 3, Constitution of the State of Florida, is violated in three separate and distinct ways.

First, the Act restricts the ability of the parties to plea bargain in providing only limited reasons for the state's departure from a maximum sentence, which reasons are set forth in Section 775.082(8)(d), Florida Statutes (1997).

"Under Florida's constitution, the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility, and the state attorney has complete discretion in deciding whether and how to prosecute."

State v. Bloom, 497 So.2d 2, 3 (Fla. 1986). See also Young v. State, 699 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1997)(separation of powers violated if trial judge given authority to decide to initiate habitualization proceedings). See Boykin v. Garrison, 658 So.2d 1090 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), rev. denied, 664 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1995)(unlawful for court to refuse to accept certain categories of pleas). This provision unlawfully restricts the exercise of executive discretion that is solely the function of the state attorney in determining whether and how to prosecute.

Second, pursuant to Section 775.082(8)(d)(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1997), a victim (a lay person) is permitted to make the ultimate decision regarding the particular sentencing scheme under which a defendant will be sentenced. This occurs even if the trial

judge believes that the defendant should not receive the mandatory punishment, or should not receive the mandatory maximum penalty.

The language of Section 775.082(8)(d)(1), Florida Statutes (1997), makes it clear that the intent of the legislature is that the offender who qualifies under the statute be punished to the fullest extent of the law "unless" certain circumstances exist. Those circumstances include the written statement of the victim. There is no language in the statute which would appear to give a trial judge the authority to override the wishes of a particular victim. The legislature has therefore unconstitutionally delegated this sentencing power to victims of defendants who qualify under the statute.

Third, the Act violates the separation of powers doctrine because it removes any discretion of the sentencing judge to do anything other than sentence under the mandatory provisions, unless certain circumstances set out in Subsection (2)(d)(1) are met. Every one of those circumstances is a matter that is outside the purview of the trial judge. The circumstances include insufficient evidence, unavailability of witnesses, the statement of the victim, and an apparent catch-all which deals with "other extenuating circumstances."

In contrast, the habitual felony offender statute, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1997), vests the trial judge with discretion in determining the appropriate sentence. For example,

if the judge finds that a habitual sentence is not necessary for the protection of the public, then the sentence need not be imposed. That is true for a person who qualifies as either a habitual felony offender, a habitual violent felony offender, ora violent career criminal. Although sentencing is clearly a judicial function, the legislature has attempted to vest this authority in the executive branch by authorizing the state attorney to determine who should and who should not be sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender. While prosecution is an executive function, sentencing is judicial in nature.

Once the state attorney decides to pursue a releasee reoffender sentence and demonstrates that the defendant satisfies the statutory criteria, the sentencing court's function then becomes ministerial in nature. The court "must" sentence pursuant to the Act. There is no requirement of a finding that such sentencing is necessary to protect the public. It is the lack of inherent discretion on the part of the court to determine the defendant's status and to determine the necessity of a prison releasee reoffender sentence to protect the public that renders the act violation of the separation of powers doctrine.

In <u>State v. Myers</u>, 708 So.2d 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the third district stated:

Furthermore, because the trial court retains discretion to conclude the violent career criminal classification and accompanying mandatory minimum sentence are

not necessary for the protection of the public, the separation of powers doctrine is not violated by the mandatory sentence.

708 So.2d at 663.

The separation of powers principles establish that, although the state attorney may suggest the classification and sentence, it is only the judiciary that decides whether to make the classification and impose the mandatory sentence. London v. State, 623 So.2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Lacking the provisions of the violent career criminal statute and the habitual offender statute that vest sole discretion as to classification and imposition of sentence in the sentencing court, the Prison Releasee Re-Offender Act violates the separation of powers doctrine.

Cruel And/Or Unusual Punishment

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