## IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

ALVIN DEREAK CHAMBERS,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC00-1153

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondents.\_\_\_/

## ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

double jeopardy.<sup>5</sup> Indeed, one recent First District cases affirmed sentences as a prison releasee reoffender, an habitual felony offender, and an habitual violent felony offender. <u>Barge v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1395 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000). Most of these cases rely on the decision of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 754 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000).

In <u>Smith</u>, the First District held that a defendant can be classified as both a prison releasee reoffender and an habitual offender. Smith robbed a bank one day after being released from prison. He qualified as both a Prison Releasee Reoffender and as an Habitual Felony Offender. The trial court imposed a 30-year HFO sentence with a 15-year minimum mandatory under the prison releasee reoffender Act for one offense. The relevant subsection of the prison releasee reoffender statute, § 775.082(8)(c), Fla. Stat.

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  Smith v. State, 754 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); Wright v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D992 (Fla. 1st DCA April 20, 2000) (rehearing pending) (rejecting the claim that it was improper to sentence a defendant as both an habitual felony offender and as a prison release reoffender statute for a single offense, relying on <u>Smith v. State</u>, So.2d 754 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000) and acknowledging conflict with the Fifth District's decision in Lewis v. State, 751 So.2d 106 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999) and the Fourth District's decision in <u>Adams v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla.  $4^{th}$  DCA 1999); Chambers v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1228 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA May 15, 2000)(holding that double jeopardy clause was not violated when defendant was sentenced both as an habitual violent felony offender and as a prison release reoffender but acknowledging conflict with the Fourth District's decision in Adams v. State, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999) and the Fifth District's decision in Lewis v. State, 751 So.2d 106 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)); Darbie v. State, 2000 WL 775553 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA June 19, 2000)(affirming both a habitual offender and a reoffender sentence for a single offense and acknowledging conflict with the Fourth and Fifth Districts) and Bloodworth v. State, 754 So. 2d 894 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000).

(1997), provides: "[n]othing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law". The <u>Smith</u> Court found that this subsection allows a trial court to impose an HFO sentence and a reoffender sentence when the defendant qualifies as both. It does not require a trial court to choose between one or the other. When a defendant receives a sentence as both a prison releasee reoffender and an habitual offender, the prison releasee reoffender sentence operates as a mandatory minimum sentence. Therefore, it does not create two separate sentences for one crime and does not violate Double Jeopardy. The First District, then, certified conflict with the Fourth District's decision in <u>Adams v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999).

Two recent cases, <u>Walls v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1221 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA May 17, 2000) and <u>Palmore v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1224 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA May 17, 2000), however, have created intradistrict conflict. Judge Benton, in <u>Walls</u> and <u>Palmore</u>, held that dual sentencing as a reoffender and as a habitual offender or dual sentencing as a reoffender and as an violent career criminal is not authorized by the prison releasee reoffender statute when a life sentence is involved.

In <u>Palmore</u>, the First District held that a defendant may not be sentenced as both a reoffender and violent career criminal when life sentences are involved. The <u>Palmore</u> Court explained that because Palmore was sentenced as a prison release reoffender, he

- 21 -

was not subject to sentencing as a violent career criminal because section 775.084 does not authorize a sentence longer than the life sentence section 775.082(8)(c) authorizes. While the statute does authorize imposition of "a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law," § 775.082(8)(c), Fla. Stat. (1997), it does not authorize imposition of a sentence under another provision that does not result in a greater sentence of incarceration.

In <u>Walls</u>, the First District held that a defendant may not be sentenced as both a reoffender and a habitual offender when life felonies are involved. Walls was convicted of second degree felony murder, armed robbery, armed burglary and two counts of attempted first-degree murder, all of which are first-degree felonies punishable by life. The trial court sentenced him as both a habitual felony offender and as a prison releasee reoffender. The Walls Court stated that under the facts of this case, the trial court acted outside its authority in sentencing petitioner as both a habitual felony offender and prison releasee reoffender. Section 775.082(8)(c) provides: "[n]othing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law. Focusing on the "greater sentence" language, the <u>Walls</u> Court struck the habitual offender sentence. Walls' sentence under the habitual felony offender statute, life, is the same as his sentence under the prison release reoffender statute, also life. Section 775.082(8)(c) only authorizes the court to deviate from the prison

- 22 -

releasee reoffender sentencing scheme to impose a greater sentence of incarceration, and because a life term under the habitual felony offender statute is not greater than a life term under the prison releasee reoffender statute, the trial court was without authority to sentence Walls as a habitual felony offender. The First District then affirmed Walls' five concurrent life sentences as a prison releasee reoffender. The <u>Walls</u> Court stated that it "declined to reach the double jeopardy argument" and found no conflict between this case and <u>Smith v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D684 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA March 13, 2000), <u>Adams v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999) or <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 106 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999), none of which involve life sentences.

However, contrary to the finding in <u>Walls</u>, the holdings in <u>Walls</u> and <u>Palmore</u>, do, in fact, conflict with the First District's earlier decision in <u>Smith</u>. The fact that life sentences were involved in both <u>Walls</u> and <u>Palmore</u> but not in either <u>Smith</u> or <u>Bloodworth</u> is irrelevant. Both <u>Walls</u> and <u>Palmore</u> rely on the language of the statute's subsection which would apply to any sentence not just a life sentence. Nothing in this subsection of the prison releasee reoffender statute uniquely applies to life sentences. Indeed, neither the term life sentence nor an equivalent appear in the subsection at issue. Thus, both <u>Walls</u> and <u>Palmore</u> directly conflict with <u>Smith</u> and the numerous subsequent cases that rely on <u>Smith</u>.

In <u>Randall v. State</u>, 2000 WL 1049873 (Fla  $1^{st}$  DCA August 1, 2000), the First District again affirmed dual sentences as a

- 23 -

reoffender and as a habitual offender. Randall was sentenced to twenty-six years for unarmed robbery as both a habitual offender and as a reoffender. The Court affirmed that habitual offender sentence but remanded for resentencing because fifteen years is the maximum sentence under the prison releasee reoffender statute. The <u>Randall</u> Court relied on this Court's previous decision in <u>Smith v.</u> <u>State</u>, 754 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000). The sentences were imposed consecutively.<sup>6</sup> Judge Benton concurred. In his concurrence, he wrote:

The present case asks the question how many sentences ought to be pronounced for a single crime. Upholding appellant's habitual offender sentence for unarmed robbery, a sentence of twenty-six years--at least eighty-five per cent of which appellant must actually serve, see § 944.275(4)(b)3., Fla. Stat. (1997)--the court today remands for imposition of a second, concurrent sentence for the same robbery, albeit a second sentence not to exceed fifteen years. Imposition of a concurrent fifteen-year sentence on remand will have no practical significance.

<sup>6</sup> Several cases have prohibited minimum mandatory sentences from being imposed consecutively. <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983)(prohibiting the "stacking" of consecutive mandatory three-year minimum sentences); Daniels v. State, 595 So.2d 952 (Fla. 1992)(prohibiting the imposition of consecutive life in prison with a fifteen-year minimum mandatory sentences); Hale v. State, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993) (prohibiting consecutive habitual offender minimum mandatory sentences); Brooks v. State, 630 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1993)(prohibiting consecutive violent habitual offender minimum mandatory sentences); Jackson v. State, 659 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1995)(holding violent habitual offender and firearm minimum mandatory sentences may be imposed but must run concurrently with one another if they arose from a single criminal episode); Boler v. State, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996)(holding the mandatory minimum sentence of 25 years for first-degree murder had to run concurrently with the three-year minimum mandatory term under the enhancement statute for use of a firearm during the commission of a felony). However, multiple minimum mandatory sentence may be imposed, they just must be imposed concurrently. The rationale of these cases was the lack of specific legislative authorization for the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. Boler v. State, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996)(noting the lack of specific legislative authorization in the enhancement statutes). The direct holding of these cases does not apply because petitioner's sentences were not imposed consecutively. However, they also stand for the proposition that enhancement sentences may not be used in conjunction with one another to lengthen a defendant's sentence in the absence of explicit statutory authority. However, the prison release reoffender sentence was not imposed consecutively. Here, the prison releasee reoffender was imposed concurrently and therefore, does not violate the holdings of these minimum mandatory cases.

But I do not read the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act (or any other statute) as authorizing more than one sentence for this robbery. If I were not constrained by precedent, therefore, I would dissent from today's remand for resentencing under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, even though I share the majority's view that the sentence imposed under that Act must be vacated.

It was decided in <u>Smith v. State</u>, 754 So.2d 100, 101 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), that a "HFO sentence with a 15-year minimum mandatory under the PRR Act does not violate Double Jeopardy." While I would not have reached the constitutional question in <u>Smith</u>, and believe the question was wrongly decided there, I am bound by <u>Smith</u>, which authorizes imposition of a concurrent sentence under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act.

There are two flaws in this reasoning. First, as Judge Benton acknowledges, the imposition of a concurrent sentence "will have no practical significance." What Judge Benton meant by this observation was that the defendant will not spend one additional day in prison due to his dual classification and there is the rub. can a valid double jeopardy claim have no practical How significance? Quite simply, if there is no increase in the length of a sentence, then there is no multiple punishment. The essence of a valid multiple punishment claim is that additional or more punishment is being imposed. If no additional punishment is present, as here, then there is no double jeopardy problem. The sentence was not lengthened in any manner. How can a sentence which does not lengthen, in any manner, a defendant's sentence constitute multiple punishment? It cannot. Unless a defendant sentence is increased in some manner, a defendant does not have a valid multiple punishment claim. Neither <u>Walls</u> nor <u>Palmore</u> address the issue of how such dual sentencing can possibly constitute multiple punishment. But see West v. State, 758 So.2d 1230 (Fla.

- 26 -

4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000)(acknowledging that the imposition of both the habitual offender sentence and a reoffender sentence does not serve to actually increase the numbers of days that the defendant will be required to serve but holding nevertheless, that such sentencing violates double jeopardy but not explaining how or why a sentence that is not any longer can possibly constitute multiple punishment). Thus, no double jeopardy violation occurs when a trial court sentences a defendant as both a prison releasee reoffender and a habitual offender.

The second flaw in Judge Benton's concurrence is the statement that <u>Smith</u> should not have reached the constitutional question. The <u>Smith</u> Court had to reach the double jeopardy issue. While whether multiple punishment are authorized is essentially a question of statutory construction, it is statutory construction question with constitutional implications. The protection against cumulative punishments is designed to ensure that the sentencing discretion of courts is confined to the limits established by the legislature. The multiple punishment strand of the Double Jeopardy Clause is a restraint on courts and prosecutors, not the legislature. United States v. McLaughlin, 164 F.3d 1, 7 (D.C. Cir. 1998). Thus, contrary to Judge Benton's reasoning, the statutory interpretation is the same as the double jeopardy analysis. There is no way to address the statutory interpretation issue without addressing the constitutional issue. They are coextensive.

The First District has followed <u>Smith</u> in some cases but followed <u>Walls</u> and <u>Palmore</u> in others. <u>Finley v. State</u>, 2000 WL 1268828 (Fla.

- 27 -

1<sup>st</sup> DCA September 8, 2000)(affirming dual sentence as both a prison releasee reoffender and habitual violent felony offender based on <u>Smith</u>); <u>Weaver v. State</u>, 764 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA August 16, 2000)(reversing the habitual violent felony offender sentence based on <u>Walls</u>); <u>Weaver v. State</u>, 764 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA August 16, 2000)(reversing the violent career criminal sentence based on <u>Palmore</u>). Thus, there is interdistrict and intradistrict conflict on the issue.

Petitioner's reliance on Jackson v. State, 659 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1995); Brooks v. State, 630 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1993) and <u>Hale v.</u> State, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993) is misplaced. While these and several other cases have prohibited dual minimum mandatory sentences to be imposed consecutively, both minimum mandatory sentence may be imposed. They just must run concurrently. The rationale of these cases was the lack of specific legislative authorization for the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences. Boler v. State, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996) (noting the lack of specific legislative authorization in the enhancement statutes). The direct holding of these cases does not apply because petitioner's sentences were not imposed consecutively. However, they also stand for the proposition that enhancement sentences may not be used in conjunction with one another to lengthen a defendant's sentence in the absence of explicit statutory authority. But the prison releasee reoffender statute does explicitly authorize the imposition of both prison releasee reoffender sanctions and habitual offender sanctions. State v.

- 28 -

<u>Enmund</u>, 476 So.2d 165 (Fla.1985)(approving consecutive twenty-five-year minimum mandatory sentences for two murders committed in the same criminal episode because the legislative allows dual minimum mandatory sentences to be imposed consecutively).

#### Harmless Error

The State, as argued above, does not view such dual sentencing as error of any kind. This is not a valid double jeopardy claim. A valid multiple punishment claim necessarily involves additional punishment. However, true double jeopardy claims are not subject to harmless error analysis. Johnson v. State, 460 So.2d 954 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984)(holding that a violation of defendant's double jeopardy rights is fundamental error not subject to harmless error analysis).

#### <u>Remedy</u>

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